RECEIVED

Nov 29 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County

Honorable DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MICAH CHRISTIAN SYLVE BROWN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-001605

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the court erred where it denied Mr. Brown counsel in his trial for murder and attempted murder, where Mr. Brown did not waive his right to counsel by affirmative request or by misconduct, since an accused has the fundamental right to counsel?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During the April term of 2019, a Richland County Grand Jury indicted Micah Brown, the appellant, for two counts of murder and one count of attempted murder.¹

On September 19, 2019, Mr. Brown appeared before the Honorable Casey Manning for an ex parte motion to relieve his counsel, Tracy Pinnock. The court granted the motion.²

On July 11, 2022, Mr. Brown appeared before the Honorable Clifton Newman for an ex parte motion to relieve his counsel, Judah VanSyckel. The court took the matter under advisement. On August 15, 2022, Mr. Brown reappeared before the Honorable Clifton Newman and the court granted the motion to relieve counsel. On October 14, 2022, Mr. Brown reappeared before the Honorable Clifton Newman for a status conference. Mr. Brown was not represented by counsel. Dale Scott represented the State. The court appointed Tivis Sutherland as standby counsel for Appellant.³

Appellant was tried before the Honorable DeAndrea Benjamin and a jury, from November 7 – 10, 2022. Mr. Brown appeared pro se, with Tivis Sutherland as standby counsel. Dale Scott prosecuted the case. Mr. Brown was convicted as indicted, and he was sentenced to serve

¹ R. 308.

² It is undisputed the judge granted the motion. However, the court reporter “experienced a catastrophic failure of an external hard drive” and could not produce a transcript. Upon information and belief, undersigned counsel believes it was a very short hearing wherein Judge Manning granted the motion. The court’s order relieving Ms. Pinnock is located at p. 305 of the Record on Appeal. The court reporter’s email regarding the equipment failure is located at pp. 306-307 of the Record on Appeal.

³ R. 1; R. 3, l. 1 – 5, l. 9; R. 32, ll. 2-18; R. 34; R. 36, ll. 7-22; R. 45, ll. 11-15; R. 47; R. 49, 4-15; R. 50, ll. 22-25.

concurrent terms of life without the possibility of parole for each count of murder, and thirty years for attempted murder.⁴

This appeal follows.

⁴ R. 53; R. 302, ll. 16-21; R. 314.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Whether a defendant has knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his right to counsel is a mixed question of law and fact which appellate courts review de novo.” *State v. Samuel*, 422 S.C. 596, 813 S.E.2d 487, 490 (2018). “[A]ppellate courts review questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts.” *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 194, 810 S.E.2d 836, 847 (2018). *See also United States v. Legree*, 205 F.3d 724, 729 (4th Cir. 2000) (review of alleged denial of due process in failing to appoint counsel is de novo).

ARGUMENT

I.

The court erred where it denied Mr. Brown counsel in his trial for murder and attempted murder, where Mr. Brown did not waive his right to counsel by affirmative request or by misconduct, since an accused has the fundamental right to counsel.

A. Introduction

Mr. Brown did not voluntarily waive his right to counsel—the court’s decision that he would represent himself at trial was made over his repeated objection. Although the court stated that Mr. Brown appeared “difficult to get along with,” he did not commit misconduct. *See State v. Boykin*, 324 S.C. 552, 478 S.E.2d 689 (Ct. App. 1996). He did not threaten or assault anyone. His requests were timely, and they were not dilatory. Mr. Brown had reasons for requesting substitute counsel. In particular, Mr. Brown had a legitimate complaint that counsel seemed insistent that he take a fifty-year plea offer, despite his right to a trial. Mr. Brown wanted a lawyer who was willing to try his case. The court did not find Mr. Brown had engaged in any misconduct, and instead it arbitrarily ruled that he waived his right to counsel by moving to relieve two attorneys over the course of four years: “I don’t go past two lawyers.”

The court’s offer to appoint substitute counsel several months later, on the morning of trial, was not a substantial offer of assistance of counsel. Mr. Brown’s rejection of this offer, in an attempt to protect his rights, did not waive his right to counsel. *See Powell v. Alabama*, 287 U.S. 45 (1932). Mr. Brown was forced to go to trial without counsel in a murder case. This error requires reversal. *See United States v. Cronin*, 466 U.S. 648, 658 (1984); *Chapman v. California*, 318 U.S. 18, 23 n. 8 (1967).

B. Relevant facts

Mr. Brown was charged with two counts of murder and one count of attempted murder. The charges arose from events that occurred on November 7, 2018. Mr. Brown was arrested within two days.⁵ He was entitled to have a trial on the charges. He was also entitled to counsel, and to the effective assistance of counsel. He was entitled to discovery. Counsel was obliged to abide by Mr. Brown's decision as to the plea to be entered. *See* U.S. CONST. amend. VI; U.S. CONST. amend. XIV; *Cronic*, 466 U.S. at 653; Rule 5, SCRCrimP; *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83, 87 (1963); *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); Rule 1.2, RPC, Rule 407, SCACR.

On September 9, 2019, Mr. Brown appeared before the Honorable L. Casey Manning for a motion to relieve his appointed counsel, Tracy Pinnock. Mr. Brown would later explain he was unhappy with Ms. Pinnock's representation because he had not received discovery thirty days after a motion to compel was granted. The court granted the motion to relieve counsel, and Judah VanSyckel was appointed.⁶

Several years later, on July 11, 2022, Mr. Brown appeared in front of the Honorable Clifton Newman for a motion to relieve his appointed counsel, Judah VanSyckel (counsel). At that point, trial was scheduled for October 31, 2022—over three and a half months away. Mr. Brown said he had attempted to have this motion heard “a year ago.” Mr. Brown had complaints about counsel's performance. Of note, Mr. Brown was disquieted by counsel's seeming insistence that he take a fifty-year plea offer. “[Y]ou're telling me to take a plea of 50 years. He say I'll be 70 when I come

⁵ R. 308; R. 91, ll. 2-17.

⁶ R. 11, ll. 14-23; R. 5, l. 16 – 6, l. 2; R. 305.

home and that's good." Mr Brown explained he did not ask for a plea offer and stated his position was that he was not guilty.⁷

Mr. Brown also expressed concern that counsel's behavior was dilatory. In particular, he was alarmed by counsel's remarks to him that counsel believed it was in Mr. Brown's interest if counsel sat on his "A-S-S" for a while, instead of trying to move the case forward. "[H]e even told me . . . I know I've been sitting on my, quote, A-S-S but sitting on my A-S-S is helping you. So you ain't doing nothing for me at all." "[M]y case is not a case where you're supposed to sit on your behind."⁸

Counsel told the court, "I certainly think that this is a tough case. There are statements by the victim of the alleged murder that . . . could be used to cross-examine [Mr. Brown] and I think that he would look bad." Counsel stated that Mr. Brown's rejection of a fifty-year plea offer had made his representation "extraordinarily difficult." "I had to beg for the offer that I was able to get . . ." Counsel claimed Mr. Brown said he would take twenty or thirty years for voluntary manslaughter and so counsel did not want to do anything that "spurs the court to go and put the case on a docket." However, there had never been an offer of voluntary manslaughter and the case was four years old.⁹

Counsel further stated he hired an investigator who, along with counsel, encouraged Mr. Brown to plead guilty: "[W]e encouraged him to plead." Counsel said he and the investigator told Mr. Brown, "[W]e've worked out an offer for you that's not life." Counsel told the court there had

⁷ R. 1; R. 4, ll. 3-6; R. 5, ll. 15-17; R. 14, ll. 23-25; R. 22, ll. 19-23; R. 28, ll. 19-24.

⁸ R. 10, 10-15; R. 15, ll. 13-14.

⁹ R. 7, l. 24 – 8, l. 22.

been a “breakdown” in his relationship with Mr. Brown. During one meeting with Mr. Brown: “I was repeatedly called a pussy ass.”¹⁰

As the hearing went on, Mr. Brown understood the court to be encouraging him to accept the plea offer. “[H]e said he worked out a plea for you, so he didn’t have to do all the stuff you’re saying that he needed to do to be ready for a trial.” The court stated that if the prosecution proved its case,

. . . you’re lucky not to get life . . . you have like a 75 percent chance of getting life. So he’s working, trying to get you something less than that, you should be thanking him for trying to save you. You can’t—

THE DEFENDANT: Fifty years?

THE COURT: Pardon?

THE DEFENDANT: Are you trying to convince me to do 50 years?

THE COURT: I’m just having a conversation because it’s solely up to you. Chances are I’ll be your judge on October 31st. And we’ll be sitting and witness after witness and the jury will say whether guilty or not guilty. And if you’re guilty, you get a sentence.¹¹

At another point in the hearing, the following exchange occurred.

THE DEFENDANT: I ain’t taking 50 years either. I’m not signing something in blood.

THE COURT: You don’t have to take 50 years. You have the right to a jury trial?

THE DEFENDANT: Yeah.

THE COURT: And then if you’re found guilty, it won’t be what you take, it will be what the judge gives you. If the judge says life, that’s it.¹²

¹⁰ R. 9, l. 1; R. 17, l. 18 – 18, l. 12; R. 26, ll. 4-8.

¹¹ R. 28, ll. 9-11; R. 20, l. 15 – 21, l. 1. 8.

¹² R. 18, ll. 13-20.

However, the court also stated that Appellant could have a jury trial, and if the jury found him not guilty, he would be free to go.¹³

The court expressed an unwillingness to appoint successive counsel. “I don’t appoint lawyer after lawyer after lawyer . . . he can’t pick and choose saying I like this lawyer, I don’t like that one, I want this one, I don’t want that one.” **“I don’t go past two lawyers.”** “I don’t just name lawyer after lawyer after lawyer because I’m convinced that no one can satisfy you. That’s why you’re in the situation you’re in because you’re difficult to deal with and you’re under a lot of pressure. You’re under a lot of stress.”¹⁴

The court also stated that if it relieved counsel, Mr. Brown would likely have to represent himself. THE COURT: “If I let him go, if I let you relieve him, then you won’t have a lawyer because I’m not going to appoint another one because if you can’t get along with Pinnock and you can’t get along with VanSyckel, then you won’t be able to get along with another one either.” THE DEFENDANT: “I probably would, you never know until you try it.”¹⁵

The court asked Mr. Brown whom he wanted appointed. “[Y]ou can tell you’re difficult to get along with, don’t you think?” Mr. Brown eventually named two public defenders. However, the court noted one of them was retiring, and an intern in the courtroom said the other one was moving home to Seattle. The court asked, “Who else you want?” and Mr. Brown replied, “Whoever you put me with.”¹⁶

¹³ R. 15, ll. 1-4; R. 15, ll. 1-4.

¹⁴ R. 9, ll. 4-10; R. 20, ll. 3-4 (emphasis added); R. 26, ll. 13-17.

¹⁵ R. 21, l. 23 – 22, l. 4.

¹⁶ R. 23, ll. 5-8 (emphasis added); R. 24, l. 12 – 25, l. 19.

The court again stated that if it relieved counsel, then Mr. Brown “might have to handle this one yourself.” THE COURT: “You have a Constitutional right to represent yourself.” THE DEFENDANT: “I can’t handle it myself. I can’t . . . I ain’t want no plea.” The court stated it would reconvene the hearing at a later date.¹⁷

The hearing reconvened on August 15, 2022. Mr. Brown again asked counsel be relieved. The court stated, “You can represent yourself. You don’t have a right to pick and choose. You’ve been given how many lawyers now?” “You have not convinced me of any legitimate reason why he should be removed other than that’s what you want.”¹⁸

Mr. Brown again repeated his complaints, in conjunction with which, Mr. Brown stated for the first and only time during any of the proceedings, that he would rather represent himself than take the plea offer. The court again stated that if it relieved counsel, Mr. Brown would have to represent himself. Counsel stated that when he went to meet with Mr. Brown after the last hearing, Mr. Brown did not want to meet with him. Mr. Brown again asked to have counsel relieved.¹⁹

The court ruled that counsel was relieved, Mr. Brown would represent himself, and that standby counsel would be appointed. Mr. Brown repeated that he did not want to represent himself.²⁰

¹⁷ R. 30, l. 7-13; R. 31, ll. 12-13.

¹⁸ R. 34; R. 37, l. 3 – 38, l. 1.

¹⁹ R. 38, l. 2 – 43, l. 18.

²⁰ R. 45, 11-18.

Two months later, on October 14, 2022, Mr. Brown and the solicitor appeared before the court for a status conference. The solicitor stated that he wanted to “make sure that everybody is on the same page that you will proceed November 7th with Mr. Brown representing himself on these charges.” Mr. Brown stated, “It wasn’t my decision to go pro se . . . When I come in here doing pro se, I’m not saying not a word. I’m not capable of representing myself, so y’all have to do what y’all have to do.”²¹

The court stated that it would appoint Tivis Sutherland to serve as standby counsel. The court further stated, “Mr. Brown has been advised of the dangers of self-representation. He did not want to have a lawyer that was provided to him, so he has to represent himself.”²²

The trial convened on November 10, 2022, in front of the Honorable DeAndrea Benjamin and a jury. The court asked Mr. Brown if it was correct that he wished to represent himself. Mr. Brown stated: “Well, Your Honor, no offense, but I was forced to represent myself. But I don’t know his name, so I’m not trippin’, but I’m just going to exercise my right to remain silent. I’m just not going to say anything from this point forward.” However, the court and Mr. Brown engaged in a colloquy about his right to counsel.²³

The court confirmed that Tivis Sutherland had been appointed as standby counsel, and Mr. Sutherland explained that he had met with Mr. Brown on the Thursday prior to trial, and had gotten the discovery the following day. Mr. Sutherland stated that he offered to represent Mr. Brown but

²¹ R. 47; R. 49, l. 4 – 50, l. 4.

²² R. 50, l. 5 – 51, l. 3.

²³ R. 53; R. 61, ll. 4-10.

Mr. Brown declined. The court told Mr. Brown that he had the right to an attorney and that the court was willing to appoint Mr. Sutherland to represent him.²⁴

THE COURT: . . . we haven't started the trial . . . if you wish to have Mr. Sutherland represent you, I can appoint him to represent you. But my understanding is, is that you do not wish for him to represent you; is that correct?

THE DEFENDANT: I mean, I don't know the man, Your Honor. Like I say, no offense, I just—I really ain't got nothing to say to him if I ain't allowed.

THE COURT: All right. So you wish to represent yourself?

THE DEFENDANT: No. I was forced to represent myself. It's just what's going on.

THE COURT: All right. Well, but you have—Judge Newman—you had two previous attorneys, and Mr. Sutherland has agreed to represent you, but you do not wish for him to represent you; is that correct?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: All right. And, sir. You understand self-representation can be dangerous, and you have the right to have the assistance of a lawyer at all stages of the proceeding? You understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Sir, you understand that criminal defense is a highly specialized and technical area of law. You understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am. **I just feel like, since I don't know him—he ain't been on my case too long or nothing like that, so I just don't—there's no way that can happen like that.**²⁵

The court continued its colloquy with Mr. Brown, and explained that Mr. Sutherland was an experienced, trained criminal defense attorney while Mr. Brown was not. Mr. Brown and Mr. Sutherland were permitted to briefly confer off the record. When proceedings resumed, Mr. Brown

²⁴ R. 61, l. 24 – 62, l. 15.

²⁵ R. 61, l. 11 – 64, l. 1 (emphasis added).

stated, “Like I say, Your Honor, I just really don’t have nothing to say, Your Honor. I ain’t going to lie. I just don’t want to talk.”²⁶

THE COURT: So you’re going to represent yourself.

THE DEFENDANT: I’m going to exercise my right to remain silent.

THE COURT: All right. Well, I guess, do you want me to appoint Mr. Sutherland as your attorney?

THE DEFENDANT: I’m going to exercise my right to remain silent, Your Honor. Nobody speaking or nothing like that.²⁷

The colloquy continued, with the court advising Mr. Brown of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation, and the consequences of conviction. Mr. Brown reiterated that he did not wish to represent himself but desired to remain silent. The court again offered to appoint Mr. Sutherland.²⁸

THE COURT: . . . If you don’t wish to represent yourself, I’ll appoint Mr. Sutherland to represent you, and you’re going to still remain silent because he’ll do all the talking. If—but you keep telling me you don’t want Mr. Sutherland to represent you.

THE DEFENDANT: I just don’t—I ain’t really—can’t really say too much, I just want to save my right to remain silent. I’m going to remain silent. I ain’t trying to disrespect you or nothing like that. I just ain’t really got nothing to say.

THE COURT: So, do you want me to appoint Mr. Sutherland or not?

THE DEFENDANT: I ain’t got nothing to say.²⁹

²⁶ R. 64, l. 2 – 65, l. 9.

²⁷ R. 65, ll. 10-16.

²⁸ R. 65, l. 17 – 67, l. 16.

²⁹ R. 66, l. 18 – 67, l. 5.

The court stated, “Mr. Sutherland is there as standby counsel to assist you with procedural. He cannot give you any advice but he can assist you procedurally as to how things work.” The court ruled, “[I]t appears that the defendant is going to represent himself. I’ve offered to appoint Mr. Sutherland, and it’s my understanding he does not want Mr. Sutherland appointed, and so, therefore, I do find that he has a constitutional right to proceed without an attorney, and so we will proceed without an attorney.”³⁰

C. Discussion

i. Mr. Brown was entitled to the assistance of counsel.

The Sixth Amendment right to counsel is a fundamental right made obligatory on the states by the Fourteenth Amendment. *Gideon v. Wainwright*, 372 U.S. 335, 345 (1963). “An accused’s right to be represented by counsel is a fundamental component of our criminal justice system. Lawyers in criminal cases ‘are necessities, not luxuries.’” *United States v. Cronin*, 466 U.S. at 653 (quoting *Gideon*, 372 U.S. at 344). “Their presence is essential because they are the means through which the other rights of the person on trial are secured. Without counsel, the right to a trial itself would be ‘of little avail,’ as this Court has recognized repeatedly.” *Id.*, 466 U.S. at 653-54 (quoting *Powell v. Alabama*, 287 U.S. at 53).

“Of all the rights that an accused person has, the right to be represented by counsel is by far the most pervasive for it affects his ability to assert any other rights he may have.” *Id.*, 466 U.S. at 654. “Unless the accused receives the effective assistance of counsel, ‘a serious risk of injustice infects the trial itself.’” *Cronin*, 466 U.S. at 656 (quoting *Cuyler v. Sullivan*, 446 U.S. 335, 343 (1980)). Mr. Brown had a fundamental right to counsel. Forcing him to represent himself at trial for two counts of murder and one count of attempted murder was error.

³⁰ R. 68, ll. 8-11; R. 69, ll. 15-20.

ii. Mr. Brown did not waive his right to counsel by affirmative request or by misconduct. The court's failure to appoint substitute counsel was arbitrary.

The courts indulge every reasonable presumption against waiver of fundamental constitutional rights and do not presume acquiescence in the loss of fundamental rights. *Illinois v. Allen*, 397 U.S. 337, 343 (1970) (quoting *Johnson v. Zerbst*, 304 U.S. 458, 464 (1938)). “Courts have recognized three ways in which a defendant may relinquish his right to counsel. First, a defendant may waive his Sixth Amendment right to counsel. A waiver is an intentional and voluntary relinquishment of a known right.” *State v. Boykin*, 324 S.C. at 556, 478 S.E.2d at 690 (citing *United States v. Goldberg*, 67 F.3d 1092, 1099 (3d Cir. 1995)). See *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 835 (1975) (defendant must be informed of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation, or record must show he had sufficient background to appreciate them before he waives his right to counsel); *Prince v. State*, 301 S.C. 422, 423-24, 392 S.E.2d 462, 463 (1990) (for a knowing and intelligent waiver to occur, defendant must be advised of right to counsel and adequately warned of dangers of self-representation).

Mr. Brown never asked to proceed pro se. The only time he stated he would proceed pro se was, as seen, when he stated he would rather represent himself than plead guilty.³¹ He did not affirmatively request to represent himself. See *Osbey v. State*, 425 S.C. 615, 620, 825 S.E.2d 48, 51 (2019) (*Faretta* applies to any waiver, whether by affirmative verbal request or by conduct).

“A defendant may also waive his waive his right to counsel through his conduct. Once a defendant has been warned that his misconduct will thereafter be treated as a waiver of his right to counsel, any subsequent misconduct is treated as a ‘waiver by conduct.’” *Boykin*, 324 S.C. at 556, 478 S.E.2d at 691 (cleaned up) (quoting *Goldberg*, 67 F.3d at 1100). “Most courts have held there

³¹ R. 38, ll. 4-18.

can be no ‘waiver by conduct’ unless the defendant is first warned of the consequences of his actions.” *Id. Faretta* warnings apply to waiver by conduct. *Osbey*, 425 S.C. at 620, 825 S.E.2d at 51. “Finally, some courts have held a defendant may forfeit his Sixth Amendment right to counsel. Forfeiture results in the loss of the right regardless of the defendant’s knowledge of either the consequences of his actions or the dangers of self-representation.” *Boykin*, 324 S.C. at 556, 478 S.E.2d at 691 (citing *Goldberg, supra*) (footnote omitted).³²

Mr. Brown did ask to represent himself, and he did not commit misconduct such that he waived his right to counsel (or forfeited it, if that doctrine were to be recognized in this state). He did not attempt to delay or fail to appear for court, and he was indigent. *See State v. Fairey*, 374 S.C. 92, 646 S.E.2d 445 (Ct. App. 2007) (finding defendant engaged in deliberate and dilatory conduct sufficient to waive his right to counsel by conduct where he failed to appear for trial, failed to pay his retained attorney, failed to cooperate with his public defender, and he engaged in delay tactics such as moving throughout the country, making motions to continue the case, and failing to sign and return acknowledgements); *State v. Cain*, 277 S.C. 210, 284 S.E.2d 779 (1981) (waiver of right to counsel is inferable from defendant’s failure to fulfill conditions of his appearance bond and fact he neglected to keep in contact with his attorney).

State v. Gill, 355 S.C. 234, 241-45, 584 S.E.2d 432, 436-38 (Ct. App. 2003) (waiver of counsel may be inferred from actions of defendant who did not qualify for public defender, where

³² “[B]ecause of the drastic nature of the sanction, forfeiture would appear to require extremely dilatory conduct. On the other hand, a ‘waiver by conduct’ could be based on conduct less severe than that sufficient to warrant a forfeiture.” *Boykin*, 32 S.C. at 556, 478 S.E.2d at 691. “While a number of courts have recognized the existence of forfeiture of right to counsel, only two courts have held a defendant’s conduct serious enough to warrant a forfeiture, particularly in the absence of any prior warning by the court.” *Id.* “[W]e need not decide whether South Carolina should embrace the doctrine of forfeiture . . .” *Id.*, 324 S.C. at 558, 478 S.E.2d at 692.

defendant repeatedly assured trial judge he could hire an attorney but failed to do so, failed to appear for court and was tried after he was picked up on a bench warrant, and where he had been allowed a reasonable time to hire counsel); *State v. Jacobs*, 271 S.C. 126, 128, 245 S.E2d 606, 608 (1978) (non-indigent defendant waived his right to counsel where court urged him to retain counsel, he was given additional time to retain counsel, and on day of trial could not name his attorney or indicate when counsel would be available). *Cf. Morris v. Slappy*, 461 U.S. 1, 13-14 (1983) (holding there is no Sixth Amendment right to a meaningful attorney-client relationship, and trial judge did not err by denying mid-trial continuance motion since court could have concluded defendant's requests to be represented by his prior attorney "were not made in good faith but were a transparent ploy for delay").

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