**RECEIVED**

**Dec 04 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Honorable DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2022-001605

THE STATE, .....RESPONDENT,

v.

MICAH CHRISTIAN SYLVE BROWN, .....APPELLANT.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JULIANNA E. BATTENFIELD  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 103135

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

BYRON E. GIPSON  
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. **The Honorable Clifton Newman rightly denied Appellant representation from an unlimited number of free-of-charge attorneys after Appellant moved to relieve the first two and numbers three and four were unavailable. Judge Newman and Judge Benjamin offered Appellant the services of a fifth attorney, but Appellant turned them down. The fifth one was stand-by counsel at trial anyway. Appellant therefore voluntarily, knowingly, intelligently waived his right to an appointed attorney.**

Appellant argues his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to counsel were violated when the Honorable Clifton Newman denied his motion to appoint yet another lawyer to his case after he moved to relieve the first two, the third and fourth were unavailable, and Appellant turned down the services of the fifth. The State disagrees and submits Appellant's argument is without merit. Defendants are entitled to the services of a free-of-charge attorney, but they do not have the right to an unlimited selection from which to choose. This Court should affirm.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides criminal defendants the right to represent themselves at trial. U.S. Const. amend. VI. The Fourteenth Amendment applied the Sixth Amendment to the states and *Gideon v. Wainwright* ensured criminal defendants in this country the right to the assistance of counsel should they so choose. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; *Gideon v. Wainwright*, 372 U.S. 335 (1963). A defendant must therefore relinquish the right to counsel voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently, must be made aware of the dangers of self-representation through “*Faretta* Warnings,” and the record must show the defendant knew what he was doing and made the choice to proceed *pro se* with his eyes wide open. *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 807, 819 (1975); *Gardner v. State*, 351 S.C. 407, 410-411, 570 S.E.2d 184, 185-186 (2002). If a defendant proceeds to trial *pro se*, a trial court may appoint a “stand by counsel” to aid the accused in the event the defendant should wish to ask for help or in the event a court must terminate the self-representation because of deliberate serious and obstructionist misconduct on the part of the defendant. *Illinois v. Allen*, 397 U.S. 337, 346 (1970). However,

states cannot force lawyers upon defendants. *Faretta*, 422 U.S. at 820-821. If the above benchmarks are met, though, the court's procedure in appointing or relieving counsel will be upheld. *Id.*

In South Carolina, if a defendant cannot afford an attorney, counsel may be appointed for him. S.C. Constitution art. I, § 14 ("Any person charged with an offense shall enjoy the right to . . . be fully heard in his defense by himself or by his counsel or both."); Rule 602, SCACR: Defense of Indigents; S.C. Code § 17-3-10 *et. seq.* If the criteria for indigency has been met, the county Public Defender's Office shall immediately thereafter enter into the representation of the accused. Rule 602(c), SCACR. Once a lawyer is appointed or retained, that lawyer typically should continue representing an accused until a final judgment, but a trial court may relieve a lawyer upon written petition and for good cause. Rule 602(e)(1)(2), SCACR. Judges may also appoint private lawyers off the South Carolina Bar's list pursuant to Rule 608, SCACR. If a defendant does not have counsel, the defendant should be given ample opportunity to be fully heard and be given every opportunity to call and cross-examine witnesses.

A defendant may lose his right to counsel, however, by waiver, by conduct (or misconduct), or by forfeiture. *Prince v. State*, 301 S.C. 422, 423-424, 392 S.E.2d 452, 463 (1990); *State v. Boykin*, 324 S.C. 552, 556, 478 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 1996); *United States v. Goldberg*, 67 F.3d 1092, 1099 (3d Cir. 1995). If a defendant is warned ahead of time that waiver by conduct was possible, dismissing multiple appointed attorneys can be the functional equivalent of a voluntary and knowing waiver by conduct of the right to counsel, which is what occurred here. *Goldberg*, 67 F.3d at 1100; *United States v. Meeks*, 987 F.2d 575 (9th Cir. 1993). A waiver is a voluntary and intentional abandonment or relinquishment of a known right. *Eason v. Eason*, 384 S.C. 473, 480, 682 S.E.2d 804, 807 (2009).

Appellant was not entitled to an unlimited number of free-of-charge attorneys or the appointment of counsel of his choice. *Morris v. Slappy*, 461 U.S. 1, 13-14 (1983) (upholding the denial of a *pro se* motion for a continuance to allow his attorney—appointed 6 days earlier—more time for preparation and holding the Sixth Amendment did not guarantee a meaningful relationship between accused and counsel). “Not every restriction on counsel’s time or opportunity to investigate or consult with his client or otherwise prepare for trial violates a defendant’s Sixth Amendment right to counsel.” *Morris*, 461 U.S. at 11.

Here, Appellant was provided an attorney through the most critical period of the proceedings up until trial: he had a lawyer through arraignment, indictment, investigation, and preparation. He then knowingly and intelligently waived his right to a lawyer by moving to relieve two then refusing the third appointment after Judge Newman warned him ahead of time that if he relieved a second attorney another one may not be appointed for him. *See Osbey v. State*, 425 S.C. 615, 620, 825 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2019). A similar fact pattern was upheld in *United States v. Fazzini*, 871 F.2d 635 (7th Cir. 1989) (holding failure to cooperate with a fourth appointed attorney acted as a waiver of the right to counsel where the judge had warned him his conduct would result in him proceeding *pro se*.)

In this case, Public Defender Tracy Pinnock was appointed to represent Appellant according to the normal procedures, but Appellant moved to relieve her, and the Honorable Casey Manning granted Appellant’s motion on September 9, 2019. Appellant was unhappy with Ms. Pinnock because she did not deliver his discovery to him within thirty days of the motion to compel. (Appellant called it “his motion” at the hearing). July 11 R. 11. Appellant also was under the perception that she lied to him because of this. July 11 R. 4-5. Judge Manning then appointed Judah VanSyckel from the Rule 608, SCACR, list to represent Appellant. Appellant

moved to relieve him, too, and a second hearing was held on July 11, 2022 before the Honorable Clifton Newman. July 11 R. 1-33. Trial was scheduled to proceed at that point on October 31, 2022. Appellant was unhappy because Mr. VanSyckel had encouraged him to take the State's 50-year plea offer even though Appellant was facing multiple life without parole sentences. July 11 R. 5-6. He was in his early 20's (23 to be exact) at the time of the hearing. July 11 R. 19. Appellant was also unhappy because Mr. VanSyckel told him their best strategy was to stall as much as possible. July 11 R. 10. Judge Newman took the matter under advisement after stating he didn't "appoint lawyer after lawyer" –

You know, the State provides a lawyer free of charge and if the defendant does not want the lawyer that the State provides, the defendant can hire his own lawyer or he can represent himself, but he can't pick and choose saying I like this lawyer, I don't like this one, I want that one, I don't like that one. We don't go in this endless cycle of I don't like what this lawyer is telling me, I don't like what this one is telling me, this one is not working enough, et. cetera.

July 11 R. 9-10.

Judge Newman interpreted the miscommunications between Mr. VanSykel and Appellant to be misunderstandings and not lies. July 11 R. 16. Appellant then insisted the "system [was] corrupt. The only person who is really on your side is a paid lawyer, not no state paid lawyer . . . the system is corrupt people . . ." July 11 Tr. 21. Judge Newman asked him who he wanted to take his case because "you can't get along with Pinnock and you can't get along with VanSyckel, [so] you won't be able to get along with another one either." July 11 R. 21-22. "I'm convinced no one will satisfy you." July 11 R. 26. Appellant said he did not know, and Judge Newman said, "I just want to know what's on your mind. I don't have to agree with your choice." July 11 R. 23-24. Appellant then pointed out two public defenders in the courtroom, but one was retiring and the other was moving, so they were unavailable to represent Appellant. July 11 R. 24-25.

A third hearing was held on August 15, 2022 regarding whether to relieve Mr. VanSyckel. Trial was two and a half months away by that point. Appellant again insisted he wanted counsel relieved and said he would rather represent himself than take the plea offer. August 15 R. 38-39. Judge Newman told Appellant he would have to represent himself if VanSyckel was relieved, and Appellant insisted that counsel be relieved. August 15 R. 39-40. Judge Newman granted Appellant's request but told Appellant that he would have to represent himself or hire a lawyer because "[y]ou will not get another free lawyer." August 15 R. 40. Appellant said, "I ain't representing myself, bruh." August 15 R. 45. Judge Newman then told Appellant standby counsel from the Public Defender's Office would be appointed. August 15 R. 45.

Right before trial, a fourth hearing was called by the solicitor on October 14, 2022 to make sure "everyone was on the same page that . . . Mr. Brown [would be] representing himself on these charges." October 14 R. 49. Judge Newman appointed Tivis Sutherland as standby counsel and advised Appellant of the dangers of self-representation. "He did not want to have a lawyer that was provided to him, so he has to represent himself." October 14 R. 49-50.

A fifth hearing was held before the Honorable DeAndrea Benjamin on November 10, 2022, where Appellant was read the full *Faretta* warnings and was encouraged to utilize stand-by counsel's expertise. Nov. 7-10, 2022 R. 60-70. Stand-by counsel Tivis Sutherland offered to fully represent Appellant at trial, but he declined. *Id.* at 10. Judge Benjamin then told Appellant yet again that he had the right to an attorney and that the court was willing to fully appoint Mr. Sutherland to represent him, but Appellant declined again. *Id.* The court found he had the constitutional right to proceed without an attorney and the trial began. *Id.* at R. 69-70.

Here, Appellant was advised of his right to counsel and was adequately warned of the dangers of self-representation as the Constitution requires. His actions of relieving two attorneys, being offered the appointment of his choice but being unable to come up with one, and then refusing the judge's selection of a third constituted a waiver of the right to counsel by conduct. Appellant also was given the opportunity to hire his own attorney, but he did not do so; he was never denied the right to counsel.

Defendants are entitled to lawyers in this state, but no constitutional rule, statute, or case indicates trial judges are required to entertain endless motions to relieve counsel and then appoint unlimited free-of-charge attorneys to indigent defendants. Appellant knew he was proceeding *pro se* with his eyes wide open because Judge Newman had warned him that would happen if he chose to relieve his second lawyer. Judge Newman gave Appellant a few weeks to think about it, and Appellant chose to relieve Mr. VanSyckel anyway knowing full well he would likely not be appointed another attorney. Judge Newman extended the grace of appointing stand-by counsel even after that. Judge Benjamin and stand-by counsel Tivis Sutherland even then offered Appellant the appointment of a third free-of-charge attorney but Appellant turned him down. The State and the two trial judges complied with and ensured Appellant was accorded his constitutional rights, but they also understood that constitutional rights are waivable by intentional abandonment and relinquishment of those known rights. This Court should affirm.

**CONCLUSION**

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the judgments, convictions, and sentences of the lower court be affirmed.